IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Case No. 20-1027

XENIA RURAL WATER DISTRICT,

Plaintiff/Appellant

vs.

CITY OF JOHNSTON, IOWA,

Defendant/Appellee

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE
HONORABLE JAMES E. GRITZNER
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
Case No. 4:18-cv-00431-JEG-CFB
U.S. District Court, Southern District of Iowa

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S CORRECTED FINAL OPENING BRIEF

Steven M. Harris, OBA #3913, Pro Hac Vice Michael D. Davis, OBA #11282, Pro Hac Vice Doyle Harris Davis & Haughey 2419 East Skelly Drive Tulsa, OK 74105 (918) 592-1276 (918) 592-4389 (fax)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether an Iowa Code § 357A.2 rural water district, before amendments to § 357A.2(4) in 2014, had a legal right to provide water service to portions of an area described in its country (sic) board of supervisors resolution, see Iowa Code § 357A.2(1), when those portions were also within two miles of the limits of a municipality, see § 357A.2(3), and when the municipality had not waived its rights to provide water service to the area, see § 357A.2(4).
- 2. Whether Iowa Code § 357A.2(4), as amended by the Iowa legislature in 2014: (a) exempts a rural water district from following notice-of-intent procedures when the area the district seeks to serve is within the district's boundaries as designated in the county board of supervisors' resolution creating the water district, and/or (b) otherwise provides the rural water district a legal right to serve such areas when the municipality has not waived its rights. If so, whether the 2014 amendment to § 357A.2(4) had retroactive effect.
- 3. Whether an Iowa Code § 504A nonprofit corporation created in 1977 had a legal right to provide water service anywhere within the state of Iowa. If so, whether a § 504A nonprofit corporation that reincorporated (including through articles of dissolution for the § 504A entity) as a § 357A.2 rural water district in 1990 retained the legal right to provide water service anywhere within the state of Iowa (including outside its boundaries as specified in its county board of supervisors resolution and within two miles of a municipality), prior to and following the 1991 amendment to § 357A.2.

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Iowa Supreme Court has exclusive discretion and jurisdiction to answer certified questions of law. I.C.A. § 684A.1. This case should be retained and the certified questions answered by the Supreme Court because it is a case presenting substantial issues of first impression.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. This case was brought by Plaintiff, Xenia Rural Water District ("Xenia"), in the U.S. District Court, S.D. Iowa ("District Court") pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to enforce Xenia's federal rights under 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b) ("§ 1926(b)") to be the exclusive provider of public water supply services to areas near and within Johnston IA (the "Areas in Dispute"), as well as for declaratory relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 et seq. Appx. p. 5, Complaint and Appx. p. 23, First Amended Complaint.
- 2. The Defendant, City of Johnston ("Johnston") filed Counterclaims asking: (1) for Declaratory Judgment that Xenia has no right to provide water service within the Areas In Dispute, and (2) for an injunction precluding Xenia from serving the Areas In Dispute. Appx. p. 42, Defendant's Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint, Amended Counterclaim and Jury Demand.
- 3. In order to qualify for § 1926(b) protection, Xenia must establish: (1) Xenia is an "association" as contemplated by § 1926(b), (2) Xenia has a qualifying federal loan, and (3) Xenia has

Water Supply No. 3, Laclede County v. City of Lebanon, 605 F.3d 511, 521 (8th Cir.2010). "Making service available has two components; (1) the physical ability to serve an area; and (2) the legal right to serve an area." Rural Water System No. 1 v. City of Sioux Center, 202 F.3d 1035 (8th Cir. 2000). (Emphasis added.)

- 4. Xenia filed its First Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Xenia's First MPSJ"), seeking a declaration that Xenia is an "association," is "indebted" on a qualifying federal loan and meets the "legal right" component of the "made service available" test, leaving the issues of whether Xenia meets the "physical ability" component of the "made service available" test, damages, and appropriate equitable relief for later determination. Appx. p. 53 Xenia's First MPSJ, and Appx. p. 57, Brief in Support of Xenia's First MPSJ.
- 5. Johnston filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Johnston's MPSJ") seeking a declaration that the Two-Mile Rule in I.C.A. § 357A.2 is not preempted by § 1926(b). Appx. p. 133, Johnston's Combined Response Brief to Xenia's First MPSJ

and Brief in Support of Johnston's MPSJ, and Appx. p. 165, Johnston's Combined Response to Xenia's First MPSJ and Johnston's MPSJ. Xenia's First MPSJ and Johnston's MPSJ are referenced hereinafter as the "Cross-Motions."

- 6. One of the critical issues addressed by the Cross-Motions was whether Xenia met the "legal right" component of the "made service available" element on which Xenia's § 1926(b) protection depends.
- 7. Because the Areas In Dispute¹ are within Xenia's geographical boundaries (service area) as established pursuant to I.C.A. § 357A.2 by the November 27, 1990 resolution of the Polk County Board of Supervisors ("PCBOS"), the legal right issue depends upon whether, notwithstanding the November 27, 1990 PCBOS resolution Xenia must also comply with the provisions of

The "Areas In Dispute" in this case consist of: (1) the "Disputed Area" an area containing approximately 1900 acres, which includes approximately 550 acres annexed by Johnston in 2018, and approximately 1350 acres not yet annexed by Johnston within which Johnston currently does not provide water service, but has indicated an intent to do so and has interfered with Xenia's service within this area, (2) the "Encroachment Areas", where Johnston currently provides water service which includes numerous subdivisions to which Johnston commenced water service at various times between 1995 to 2018. The "Areas In Dispute" are properly reflected at Appx. p. 110 and Appx. pp. 223-224, G.B. Decl., Sts. 7 and 8.

- I.C.A. § 357A.2(3) (referenced in the briefing as the "Two-Mile Rule") before it (Xenia) has the exclusive right under § 1926(b) to provide water service to that part of the Areas In Dispute that is within two miles of Johnston's 1990 city limits.
- 8. On March 19, 2020, the District Court entered its Order relating to the Cross-Motions for partial summary judgment.

 Appx. p. 324.
- 9. The District Court's Order finds that the Two-Mile Rule precludes Xenia from extending water service to new customers within two miles of the Johnston 1990 city limits. Appx. pp. 338-339 and 352-353.
- 10. The District's Court Order also finds that Johnston admitted at the hearing on partial summary judgment that Xenia has rights to the Areas In Dispute beyond two miles from Johnston's 1990 city limits and holding that Xenia has a legal right to provide water service to the portions of the Areas In Dispute beyond the Two-Mile Rule range. Appx. pp. 350-351.
- 11. Xenia filed a Motion for Reconsideration (Appx. p. 412) asking that the District Court reconsider its rulings concerning

the interpretation and application of various state law issues on which there is no controlling Iowa precedent.

12. Upon review of Xenia's Motion for Reconsideration, the District Court determined that it would be appropriate to certify the Iowa state law questions to the Iowa Supreme Court and entered its Order On Certified Questions of State Law. Appx. p. 539.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. COURT STATEMENT OF FACTS – XENIA'S COM-MENTS IN FOOTNOTES

Johnston is a municipality that operates its own water supply system. Xenia is a rural water provider operating in Polk County, Iowa, among other locations in Iowa. On May 18, 1982, Xenia borrowed \$3,200,000 from the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) and has borrowed additional funds many times since then. Xenia first incorporated in 1977 under Iowa Code Chapter 504A as a nonprofit corporation titled Xenia Rural Water Association. On October 30, 1990, Xenia petitioned the Polk County Board of Supervisors (PCBOS) for conversion to a rural water district under Iowa Code Chapter 357A, and the PCBOS

granted the petition in a November 27, 1990 resolution. The resolution stated, in relevant part:

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that it is the order of the Polk County Board of Supervisors that the district whose boundary includes the area in Polk County described as follows be and hereby is established as the Xenia Rural Water District with all of the rights, powers and duties specified in Chapter 357A of the code of Iowa, as amended:

All of the following sections in Polk County except that portion lying within the boundary of any incorporated city on the date hereof:

- 1. The North ½ of Sections 1, 2, and 3, all of Sections 4 through 9, Sections 16 through 20, and Sections 29, 30, 31, 32, and that part of Section 33 west of Saylorville Lake all in Township 81 North Range 25 West.
- 2. All of that part of Sections in Township 80 North Range 25 West lying westerly of Saylorville Lake.

Appx. p. 93.

There are two sets of service areas subject to the present suit, which Xenia refers to as "Encroachment Areas" and a "Disputed Area." The Encroachment Areas and Disputed Area together comprise what Xenia calls the "areas in dispute." The parties agree that the areas in dispute are within the boundaries described in the PCBOS resolution. Some portions of the areas in dispute are

within two miles of Johnston's city limits, but some are not. Johnston has provided water service to portions of the Encroachment Areas since at least 1995 and continues to do so.² The Disputed Area contains approximately 1900 acres, including approximately 550 acres annexed by Johnston in 2018 and approximately 1350 acres over which Johnston intends to annex.

In early 2018, Xenia and Johnston began negotiations relating to a request for water services from the United States Navy for a facility it was building in the Disputed Area. The negotiations led to an April 4, 2018 Interim Agreement, which stated, in relevant part, "Section 357A.2 of the [Iowa] Code provides that Xenia may not provide services within two miles of the limits of Johnston unless Johnston has approved a new water system plan." Appx. p. 123. The agreement was signed by the Mayor and City Clerk of Johnston and the Chair and Secretary of Xenia. The area Johnston intended to annex included sections both within and over two

² It should be clarified that Johnston began service to new customers and developments in this area at different times between 1995 through 2018.

miles from Johnston, although the parties dispute the exact portions. Negotiations broke down around September 2018 after Johnston offered to pay Xenia approximately \$1.58 million for its rights to the area over two miles from Johnston's city limits.³

B. XENIA'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. Xenia was originally organized as an Iowa not for profit corporation pursuant to Chapter 504A of the 1977 Code of Iowa. Appx. p. 86, Declaration of Gary Benjamin (hereafter "G.B. Decl."), St. 3 and Appx. p. 91, Xenia's Articles of Incorporation.
- 2. On October 30, 1990, Xenia filed a Petition with the County Board of Supervisors of each county in which Xenia was operating (including Polk County) seeking to have the Chapter 504A non-profit corporation also qualified as a rural water district with established boundaries under the provisions of I.C.A. § 357A.1 et seq. Appx. p. 86, G.B. Decl., St. 4 and Appx. p. 93, Petition for Incorporation under I.C.A. § 357.A(2).

³The negotiations and approval of the Interim Agreement do not relate to and are not relevant to answering questions of law provided by the Certified Questions.

- 3. On November 27, 1990, the PCBOS passed a resolution (after notice to Johnston and others and after public hearing and without any objections by Johnston or others) designating Xenia as a rural water district for the purpose of providing an adequate supply of water for residents who were not served by the water mains of any city water system (I.C.A. § 357A.2) and defining the geographical boundaries of Xenia's service territory ("Xenia Territory"). Appx. p. 98, PCBOS Resolution designating Xenia as a rural water district, Appx. p. 99, a map depicting the water service territory exclusively reserved to Xenia by the 1990 PCBOS Resolution and Appx. p. 86, G.B. Decl., St. 5.
- 4. Johnston is an Iowa Municipality which also operates a public water supply system. Appx. p. 23, First Amended Complaint, St. 4, Appx. p. 42, Johnston's Answer, St. 4 and Appx. p. 87, G.B. Decl. St. 6.
- 5. Xenia, as a non-profit corporation and as a rural water district, was and is duly empowered to contract indebtedness and borrow funds, including the right to borrow funds from the United States Department of Agriculture ("USDA"). Iowa Code Chapter

504A as in effect in 1982, the date of Xenia's first USDA Loan, I.C.A. § 357A.11 (7), (8) and (9).

- 6. On May 18, 1982, Xenia borrowed \$3,200,000 from the USDA, pursuant to and in accordance with 7 U.S.C. § 1926, (the "1982 USDA Loan"). Appx. p. 100, 1982 USDA Loan Docs and Appx. p. 87, G.B. Decl., St. 8.
- 7. Xenia borrowed additional funds from the USDA over the years as summarized by Appx. p. 111 and has been continuously indebted to the USDA from May 18, 1982 through today. Appx. p. 87, G.B. Decl., St. 9 and Appx. p. 111, USDA Loan History.
- 8. The "Areas In Dispute," the "Encroachment Areas" and the "Disputed Area" are all located within the Xenia Territory.

⁴The "Areas In Dispute" in this case consists of: (1) the "Disputed Area" an area containing approximately 1900 acres, which includes approximately 550 acres annexed by Johnston in 2018, and approximately 1350 acres not yet annexed by Johnston within which Johnston currently does not provide water service, but has indicated an intent to do so and has interfered with Xenia's service within this area, (2) the "Encroachment Areas", where Johnston currently provides water service which includes numerous subdivisions to which Johnston commenced water service at various times between 1995 to 2018. The "Areas In Dispute" is properly reflected at Appx. p. 110, and Appx. pp. 223-224, G.B. Decl. Sts. 7 and 8.

Appx. p. 110, Map of Xenia Territory showing Encroachment Areas and Disputed Area and Appx. p. 88, G.B. Decl., St. 10.

9. Johnston has been, since at least 1995, and has continued thereafter without interruption, providing water service within the Xenia Territory to an ever expanding base of water customers located within the Encroachment Areas, connecting such customers from 1995 through 2018 to the Johnston water system. Appx. p. 112, Subdivision List and Appx. p. 88, G.B. Decl., St. 11.

ARGUMENT

I. ERROR PRESERVATION STATEMENT

This matter is before the Court pursuant to questions of Iowa law certified to this Court by the United States District Court for the Southern District of Iowa, in accordance with the provisions of Iowa Code §§ 684A.1 and 684A.2.

II. SCOPE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

"It is within....[the] discretion [of the Supreme Court of Iowa] to answer certified questions from a United States district court. Iowa Code §684A.1 (stating the court "may" answer a certified question). "We may answer a question certified to us when: (1) a

proper court certified the question, (2) the question involves a matter of Iowa law, (3) the question "may be determinative of the cause...pending in the certifying court," and (4) it appears to the certifying court that there is no controlling Iowa precedent." *Life Investors Ins. Co. of America v. Estate of Corrado*, 838 N.W.2d 640, 643 (Iowa 2013).

III. CERTIFIED QUESTION ONE

Whether an Iowa Code § 357A.2 rural water district, before amendments to § 357A.2(4) in 2014, had a legal right to provide water service to portions of an area described in its country (sic) board of supervisors resolution, see Iowa Code § 357A.2(1), when those portions were also within two miles of the limits of a municipality, see § 357A.2(3), and when the municipality had not waived its rights to provide water service to the area, see § 357A.2(4).

Xenia contends that under Iowa Code § 357A.2, prior to the 2014 Amendment, an Iowa rural water district had a legal right to serve areas within its County Board of Supervisors ("CBOS") designated service area ("CBOS Service Area") and within two miles of a municipality without compliance with the notice procedure provided in § 357A.2(4), because the 2014 Amendment should be applied retroactively. See Argument IV(B) below.

Xenia also contends that it had the legal right to provide water service within two miles of the city limits of Johnston, because Xenia obtained that legal right when it was created as a § 504A non-profit corporation in 1977, and held that legal right when it first became indebted to the USDA in 1982 before the enactment of the Two-Mile Rule in 1987. The "legal right" prong of the "made service available" requirement is determined by state law at the time the association first became indebted and any state law which would purportedly take away that right after such date is preempted by federal law. Rural Water System #1 v. City of Sioux Center, 967 F.Supp. 1483, 1529 (N.D. Iowa, 1997). See also Pittsburg County Rural Water District No. 7 v. City of McAlester, 358 F.3d 694 (10th Cir. 2004).

The District Court recognized that the legal right component is determined as of the date Xenia first became indebted, finding:

"In short, the court held that when a rural water provider assumes a qualifying loan, it receives § 1926(b) protection based in part on its legal rights as defined by state law at that time, but any subsequent attempt to shrink that protected service area during the lifetime of the loan is preempted. This Court is fully in agreement with Judge Bennett's analysis.

Appx. p. 336, District Court's Order. (Emphasis added.)

Thus, it is Xenia's position that the legal right issue must be determined as of the date of its first USDA Loan in 1982, before the Two-Mile Rule was enacted.

Xenia further contends that if the Two-Mile Rule does apply, a rural water district could obtain the legal right to serve certain areas within two miles of the city limits of a municipality under the provisions of § 357A.2(4) before the 2014 Amendment.

§ 357A.2(4) has time limits within which a municipality must respond to a notice of intent to serve issued by a rural water district. A municipality's failure to timely respond grants the water district the legal right to provide water service. If the municipality elects to provide water service, the municipality must provide water service within a specified time after receipt of the water district's notice. Failure by the municipality to provide water service within that time, results in the rural water district having the legal right to provide water service. (See Appx. p. 328.)

Iowa Code § 357A.2(4) for the period 1995 through 2013, states in pertinent part that a rural water district may give notice

of intent to provide water service to a new area within two miles of a municipality's city limits, to which: (1) the city has 90 days to respond (180 days if city requests more information), (2) if there is no timely response from the city, the "district may serve", (3) the city must extend service within 4 years after receipt of the notice, and (4) failure by the city to provide service within four (4) years automatically allows the rural water district to provide service thereafter to the area identified in the notice.

The current version of Iowa Code § 357A.2(4) states:

- (4)(c). "If the city fails to respond to the water plan within seventy-five days of receipt of the plan, the district or association may provide service in the area designated in the plan." (Emphasis added.)
- d. (1) In responding to the plan, the city *may affirmatively waive* its right to provide water service within the areas designated for water service by the rural water district, or the city may reserve the right to provide water service in some or all of the areas which the district or association intends to serve.
- (b) If the city reserves the right to provide water service within some or all of the areas which the district or association intends to serve, the *city shall provide service within three years* of receipt of the water plan submitted under paragraph "a".
- (4)(d)(2)(c): If the city reserving the right to provide service fails to provide service within three years of receipt of the water plan submitted under paragraph "a", the city waives its right to provide water service..." (Emphasis added.)

Thus, a rural water district, even if the 2014 Amendment is not applied retroactively, would obtain the legal right to serve within two miles of the city limits of a municipality under the Notice of Intent Procedure.

The answer to this question under state law (ignoring federal preemption) should be:

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