**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

---

Supreme Court No. 20–1027

---

---

**XENIA RURAL WATER DISTRICT,**  
Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

**CITY OF JOHNSTON, IOWA**  
Defendant-Appellee.

---

---

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT  
COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA,  
THE HONORABLE JAMES E. GRITZNER

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE  
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

---

William J. Miller (AT0005414)  
Manuel A. Cornell (AT0013743)  
Dorsey & Whitney LLP  
801 Grand Avenue, Suite 4100  
Des Moines, IA 50309-2790  
Tel: (515) 283-1000  
Fax: (515) 283-1060  
E-mail: miller.william@dorsey.com  
cornell.manuel@dorsey.com  
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-

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

A rural water district or rural water association may give notice of intent to provide water service to a new area within two miles of a city by submitting a water plan to the city. This subsection shall not apply in the case of a district or association extending service to new customers or improving existing facilities within existing district or association service areas or existing district or association agreements. If water service is provided by a city utility established under chapter 388, the water plan shall be filed with the governing body of that city utility. The district or association shall provide written notice pursuant to this subsection by certified mail.



Codification of amendment at Iowa Code § 357A.2 (2014)

**B. Xenia’s Organizational Structure and Iowa Law Subject It to the 2-Mile Rule**

The 1990 PCBOS Resolution organizing Xenia as a rural water district defined Xenia’s territory “as the Xenia Rural Water District with all of the rights, powers and duties specified in Chapter 357A of the Code of Iowa, as amended.” (PCBOS Resolution (App. at 98)). Chapter 357A, as amended and codified by 1989 (and subsequently), included the 2-mile rule. *See* Iowa Code § 357A.2 (1989). It follows that despite the resolution referencing Xenia’s potential service territory to include the area within two miles of Johnston, Xenia remained subject to the “duties in [section] 357A[.2] of the Code of Iowa.” (1990 PCBOS Resolution) (App. at 98)).

Xenia and its amici argue this is not the correct interpretation because the PCBOS Resolution is created pursuant to Iowa Code section 357A.2, which states a petition by an entity seeking to become a rural water district “shall state . . . [t]he location of the area, describing such area to be served or specifying the area by an attached map.” Iowa Code § 357A.2(2)(a). According to Xenia and its amici, it only makes sense to assume this language of the statute only means the Resolution establishes Xenia’s “existing service area,” giving Xenia the legal right to serve all areas outlined in the Resolution.

(*See* Xenia’s Final Brief at 26). However, this argument fails for several reasons.

First, the clear language of the statute—as well as the PCBOS Resolution—does not state that the territory outlined in the Resolution will become the district’s “existing service area.” Notably, the language of this subsection is contrary to Xenia’s and its amici’s argument because it states the defined boundaries are the “area to be served,” and not the district’s “existing service area.” The territory described in the Resolution could only mean an area that the district could obtain the legal right to serve only by proceeding under chapter 357A—including the 2-mile rule.

Xenia’s amici also claim “[t]he only logical conclusion is that the PCBOS intended to *include* the two-mile area in Xenia’s service area” when “the PCBOS resolution would have expressly excepted any ‘portion lying within the boundary of any incorporated city’ from the service area.” (Brief of Amici Curiae at 14 n.1 (emphasis in the original)). While this argument might seem compelling on first glance, it is not surprising that the Resolution would specifically carve out an area where the Polk County Board of Supervisors determined there was no possibility of service by the district (the “portion lying within the boundary of any incorporated city”) from the area up to two miles outside that boundary under which the Resolution subjected

Xenia to the duties under section 357A.2, including the 2-mile rule. *See* Iowa Code § 357A.14(2); *see also* *Iowa Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Env'tl. Prot. Comm'n*, 850 N.W.2d 403, 427 n.7 (Iowa 2014) (quoting *Millwright v. Romer*, 322 N.W.2d 30, 33 (Iowa 1982) (acknowledging a board of supervisors, like others, “is assumed to know the law and is charged with knowledge of the provisions of statutes”)).<sup>3</sup>

Ultimately, Xenia and its amici completely ignore the fact that this subsection of 357A.2 is followed by the limitations under which a rural water district formed under Iowa law may operate—including the 2-mile rule—and interpreting it in the manner they propose would be contrary to Iowa’s rules of statutory interpretation. *See infra*, Section V. Therefore, Xenia was then, and is now, subject to the 2-mile rule mandated by the Iowa legislature under Iowa Code section 357A.2. However, even if the amendment did what Xenia and its amici propose, the amendment could not be applied retroactively because it is substantive. *See infra*, Section V.A.

---

<sup>3</sup> Furthermore, Xenia and its amici’s expansive misreading of the PCBOS Resolution and Iowa law on this point underscores the fallacy of their central tenet that 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b) must be read so that there are no limits on rural water service providers. (*See, e.g.*, Brief of Amici Curiae at 12 (arguing section 357A.2 gives “rural water utilities the superior right to provide water service within two miles of city limits . . .”). Under their approach, even the Resolution’s reservation of the “portion lying within the boundary of any incorporated city” would seem to be in question, although Xenia has made not that claim—yet.

**C. Xenia’s 1982 Loan Only Covered the Area it Served in 1982**

The federal district court did not ask this Court to answer whether the federal protections applied to the territory at issue in this case through Xenia’s 1982 loan from the federal government. Further, it seems that the federal district court may have excluded this issue because it does not fall within this Court’s “power” under Iowa Code section 684A.1. *Cf. Klinge v. Bentien*, 725 N.W.2d 13, 16 (Iowa 2006). Therefore, this Court should disregard this issue. *See Wright v. Brooke Group Ltd.*, 652 N.W.2d 159, 170 n.1 (Iowa 2002) (refusing to address certain issues when they were beyond the scope of the certified-question proceeding). Nevertheless, Xenia chose to raise this issue, so Johnston will briefly address it.

Simply stated, because none of the areas in dispute in this litigation were part of Xenia’s *existing* service area at the time it first became indebted to the federal government in 1982—Xenia has never provided any evidence to the contrary—357A.2 cannot be preempted in this case and there is otherwise no conflicts between state and federal law. (App. at 337–38); *see Rural Water Sys. No. 1*, 967 F. Supp. at 1528–29, *aff’d*, 202 F.3d 1035 (8th Cir. 2000). To hold differently would create the conflict Xenia warns this Court about because rural water districts seemingly would have unfettered authority to serve anywhere they pleased. (App. at 339). If Congress had

desired this outcome it could have stated so. Instead, “no federal statute or regulation defines ‘made service available’ within the meaning of § 1926(b)” and “[c]ourts have routinely looked to state law as defining an association’s protected service area under § 1926(b).” *Rural Water Sys. # 1*, 967 F. Supp. at 1527, 1528.

As Judge Gritzner correctly found,

If Xenia already provided water services within two miles of Johnston’s city limits as of the enactment (sic) two-mile rule, then the two-mile rule would not curtail or limit Xenia’s continued provision of such services. When Xenia reincorporated as a rural water district pursuant to § 357A.2 in 1990, Xenia would not have given up any pre-1987 service area because § 357A.2 does not curtail or limit water services provided before 1987. That would include the service area protected by § 1926(b) when Xenia took out its first USDA loan in 1982.

The record unambiguously indicates that Xenia did not assume a USDA loan at any time between May 18, 1982—the date of Xenia’s first qualifying loan—and January 13, 1992—the date of Xenia’s second qualifying loan. See Pl.’s App. 47, ECF No. 34-1. Although § 1926(b) prevents municipal encroachment on indebted rural water providers’ protected service areas, **Xenia’s “protected service area [was] defined by state law as of the date” it assumed qualifying debt.** *Rural Water Sys. No. 1*, 967 F. Supp. at 1530 (emphasis added). Before 1992, then, any protected service area was defined as of May 18, 1982, and is therefore exempt from the two-mile rule. Based on the current record, that protected service area does not cover the areas in dispute.

(App. at 337–38 (emphasis added)).

In other words, because section 357A.2 does not attempt to curtail any areas actually served by either districts or associations before 1987, the federal statute and section 357A.2 exist in harmony. *See* Iowa Code § 357A.2 (“Water services, *other than water services provided as of April 1, 1987*, shall not be provided within two miles of the limits of a city . . . .” (Emphasis added)). While Xenia became indebted to the federal government in 1982, such indebtedness was only for areas under that loan, none of which are at issue in this case. Johnston is not claiming any service rights to any area served by Xenia in 1982. As Judge Gritzner notes, Xenia did not get a new loan from the federal government until 1992. (App. at 338). By this date, the 2-mile rule was in existence, Xenia was no longer a 504A corporation, and Xenia had already been reorganized as a rural water district subject to the 2-mile rule.

For these reasons, Xenia’s 1982 loan from the federal government is irrelevant to the issues presented because the areas that loan protects are not in dispute here and because section 357A.2 expressly excludes areas served before the creation of the 2-mile rule from the statute.

**D. Johnston Has Made No Waiver**

Finally, Xenia’s argument regarding Certified Question 1 concludes with a discussion of Iowa Code section 357A.2(4), which is misplaced. (*See* Xenia’s Final Brief at 22–23). This is another issue that was not presented by

the district court under its certified questions and must be disregarded. *See Wright*, 652 N.W.2d at 170 n.1. Indeed, Xenia does not truly argue anything on this point, meaning it should be deemed waived, see Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 903(2)(g)(3), and it seems no response is necessary or possible except to say Johnston has not waived any rights or arguments regarding section 357A.2(4) to the extent any issue remains pending in the federal district court.

**V. QUESTION 2: WHETHER IOWA CODE § 357A.2(4), AS AMENDED BY THE IOWA LEGISLATURE IN 2014: (A) EXEMPTS A RURAL WATER DISTRICT FROM FOLLOWING NOTICE-OF-INTENT PROCEDURES WHEN THE AREA THE DISTRICT SEEKS TO SERVE IS WITHIN THE DISTRICT'S BOUNDARIES AS DESIGNATED IN THE COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS' RESOLUTION CREATING THE WATER DISTRICT, AND/OR (B) OTHERWISE PROVIDES THE RURAL WATER DISTRICT A LEGAL RIGHT TO SERVE SUCH AREAS WHEN THE MUNICIPALITY HAS NOT WAIVED ITS RIGHTS. IF SO, WHETHER THE 2014 AMENDMENT TO § 357A(4) HAD RETROACTIVE EFFECT.**

The amendment to Iowa Code § 357A.2 in 2014 does not exempt a rural water district from following notice-of-intent procedures when the area the district seeks to serve is within the district's boundaries as designated in the county board of supervisor's resolution creating the rural water district, and does not provide a rural water district the legal right to serve such areas when the municipality has not waived its rights.

The parties agree that *Ferezy v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.* summarizes the standard when interpreting an Iowa statute, which is well known to this Court:

In analyzing the language of a statute, **the Court “give[s] words their ordinary and common meaning by considering the context within which they are used, absent a statutory definition or an established meaning in the law.”** *Doe v. Iowa Dep’t of Human Servs.*, 786 N.W.2d 853, 858 (Iowa 2010); *see also State v. McCoy*, 618 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 2000) (“Words are given their usual and ordinary meaning absent an express legislative definition or a particular meaning in law.”). **“Plain language or plain meaning of a statutory provision is not limited to the meaning of individual terms, but rather, such inquiry requires examining the text of the statute as a whole by considering its context, object, and policy.”** *Forbes v. Hadenfeldt*, 648 N.W.2d 124, 126 (Iowa 2002) (citing *Voss v. Iowa Dep’t of Transp.*, 621 N.W.2d 208, 211 (Iowa 2001)).

As the Iowa Supreme Court has instructed,

[w]hen called upon to interpret a statute, we first determine whether the legislative enactment is ambiguous. If it is clear and unambiguous, **we give [the] statute a plain and rational meaning.** If, on the other hand, the statute is ambiguous, we rely on well-established rules to aid our interpretation. A statute or rule is ambiguous if reasonable minds could differ or be uncertain as to the meaning of the statute.

*Larson Mfg. Co., Inc. v. Thorson*, 763 N.W.2d 842, 859 (Iowa 2009) (citations and quotation marks omitted).

\*\*\*

Ferezy asserts that the terms “accrue” and “benefit” indicate the legislature only intended to include deductions that had a



“tangible, financial” upside. Pl. Br. 5, ECF No. 25. Such a restrictive reading does not track the unambiguous, ordinary meanings of “accrue” and “benefit,” which in common and ordinary vernacular encompass much more than purely tangible, financial matters, in the absence of a limiting statutory definition. *See Teamsters Local Union No. 421 v. City of Dubuque*, 706 N.W.2d 709, 717 (Iowa 2005) (holding that **courts avoid absurd results by interpreting statutes in a commonsense manner**); *see also State v. Petithory*, 702 N.W.2d 854, 859 (Iowa 2005) (interpreting statute consistent with common sense); *Harrington v. State*, 659 N.W.2d 509, 520 (Iowa 2003) (same).

755 F. Supp. 2d 1010, 1013–15 (S.D. Iowa 2010) (emphasis added).

Interpreting the statute in the manner in which Xenia proposes would result in the absurd and nonsensical effect the rules of interpretation strictly forbid.

For example, Xenia believes the definition of the phrase “existing service area” should include all territory outlined in the PCBOS Resolution. It argues “existing service area” should be defined as something more: “*boundary/service area.*” (*See Xenia’s Final Brief at 36; Xenia’s Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Reconsider (App. at 421) (emphasis added)*). Moreover, this Court must also reject Xenia’s bald attempt to rearrange and add a couple of words to the statute to conclude that the territory outlined in the Resolution is equivalent to Xenia’s “existing service area.” Of course, adding self-serving words like Xenia and its amici attempt here—in fact modifying the statute wholly—is manifestly wrong and would lead to the absurd result they desire. *See Ferezy*, 755 F. Supp. 2d 1010 at 1015 (citing

*Teamsters Local Union No. 421*, 706 N.W.2d at 717) (noting that courts should avoid interpreting statutes that would result in absurd results).

This is not the first time Xenia has attempted to add words that do not exist in the statute and the Court should reject Xenia’s and its amici’s effort to rewrite the statute. (See Xenia’s Reply to Johnston’s Resistance to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment (App. at 239–40) (arguing that the 2014 amendment clarifies that the two-mile rule does “not apply to a rural water district’s extension of service within its own existing *Territory/Service Area* . . . . (Emphasis added)). Nowhere does Iowa Code section 357A.2 include the word *Territory* or *Boundary*. See Iowa Code § 357A.2; see also (App. at 342) (“Contrary to Xenia’s argument, the amended language never references *territory* as established by county supervisors . . . .” (Emphasis added)).

Additionally, Xenia’s and its amici’s claim that the PCBOS Resolution defined Xenia’s “existing service area” is misleading. Nowhere does the Resolution state so. (See Xenia’s Appendix in Support of First Motion for Summary Judgment (App. 98)). Even more so, the Resolution established Xenia subject to the “duties specified in Chapter 357A of the Code of Iowa, as amended,” including the 2-mile rule. (See *id.*); see also (App. at 333). The Resolution says nothing about water service beyond invoking Iowa Code

section 357A.2, by which Xenia was permitted to seek to provide water service if its plan to do so would fall within two miles of a city such as Johnston.

Xenia also suggests that Iowa Code section 357A.13 has some applicability to the issues but cites no authority and makes no argument in support. (Xenia's Final Brief at 34). As a result, it should be found to have waived any argument regarding this section. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 903(2)(g)(3). Of course, section 357A.13 has no application in any event. Section 357A.13 states: "If the capacity of the district's facilities permits, the district may *sell* water by contract to any city, other district, or other person, public or private, not within the *boundaries* of a district." Iowa Code § 357A.13 (emphasis added).

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